FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/27/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/23/2024 12:44 PM

No. <u>102834-2</u> Court of Appeals No. 84922-1-I

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## HAI EN MAI and JULIANNE STUTZMAN-MAI,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

# PHILLIPS LAW FIRM, PLLC, RALPH GLENN PHILLIPS and KATHRYN MOORE PHILLIPS,

Defendants/Respondents.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

# GORDON TILDEN THOMAS & CORDELL LLP

Jeffrey I. Tilden, WSBA #12219 Miles C. Bludorn, WSBA #54238 600 University Street, Suite 2915 Seattle, WA 98101 Tel. 206.467.6477

#### PERKINS COIE LLP

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER						
II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS						
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1						
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE						
A.	Overv	view				
B.	Factual Background4					
	1.	The A	Accident and Retention of PLF4			
	2.	PLF's	s Handling of Hai En Mai's Claims 5			
	3.	Plaint	iffs' CPA Claim7			
			REVIEW SHOULD BE 8			
A.	A Ca	use of A	Action Is "Property." 10			
	1.	The C	Opinion Below10			
	2.	The L	aw11			
		a.	Washington Law			
		b.	Federal Law: The Fourteenth Amendment			
		c.	Federal Law: Bankruptcy17			
		d.	The Restatement of Property 17			
		e.	"Expectation" vs. "Property" 18			

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

			<u>Page</u>	
В.		\$1,248 Order Was in Fact a "Final ment"	19	
	1.	The Order	19	
	2.	The Opinion Below	20	
	3.	The Law	21	
VI. CONCLUSION			23	
CERTIFICATE OF E-SERVICE				
APPENDIC	ES			

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

<u>Page</u>
Cases
Ambach v. French, 167 Wn.2d 167, 216 P.3d 405 (2009)2, 3, 11
Bank of America, N.A. v. Owens, 173 Wn.2d 40, 266 P.3d 211 (2011)
Barry v. Barchi, 443 U.S. 55 (1979)
Bell v. Burson, 402 U.S. 535 (1971)
<i>Bird v. Best Plumbing Group, LLC</i> , 175 Wn.2d 756, 287 P.3d 551 (2012)
Blodgett v. Silberman, 277 US 1 (1928)
Carlile v. Harbour Homes, Inc., 147 Wn. App. 193, 194 P.3d 280 (2008)
Connell v. Higginbotham, 403 U.S. 207 (1971)
Denney v. City of Richland, 195 Wn.2d 649, 462 P.3d 842 (2020)
Ennis v. Ring, 49 Wn.2d 284, 300 P.2d 773 (1956)11
Goldberg v. Kelly, 297 U.S. 254 (1970)
Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 719 P.2d 531 (1986)
In re Alan Deatley Litig., CV-06-0278-JLQ, 2008 WL 4153675 (E.D. Wash. Aug. 29, 2008)

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

<u>Page</u>
<i>In Re Dependency of A.G.</i> , 127 Wn. App. 801, 112 P.3d 588 (2005)
Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. 422 (1982)
Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976)
Mueller v. Rupp, 52 Wn. App. 445, 761 P.2d 62 (1988) 11
Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306 (1950)
Peoples v. United Servs. Auto Ass'n, 194 Wn.2d 771, 452 P.3d 1218 (2019)
State v. Taylor, 150 Wn.2d 599, 80 P.3d 605 (2003)22
Williams v. Lifestyle Lifts Holdings, Inc., 175 Wn. App. 62, 302 P.3d 523 (2013)2
Statutes
11 U.S.C. § 541(a)(1)
RCW 19.86.010
RCW 19.86.09019
RCW 19.86.92012
RCW 4.64.03023
Other Authorities
BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 847 (7th ed. 1999)

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

<u>Page</u>
J. Salmond, Jurisprudence 423 (Glenville L. Williams ed., 10th ed. (1947)
Restatement (Fourth) of Property, § 1.2 (Vol. 4) (Am. Law Inst., Tentative Draft No. 3, 2022)
Restatement (First) of the Law of Property, Introductory Note at 3 (Am. Law Inst. 1936)
Restatement (First) of Property § 163 (Am. Law Inst. 1936) 18
T.W. Bell, "Property" in the Constitution: The View From the Third Amendment, 20 Wm. & Mary Bill Rts. J. 1243 (2012), https://scholarship.law.wm.edu/wmborj/vol20/iss4/7
Rules
CR 54(a)(1)21
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4)9
RAP 2.2(a)(1)21, 23
Constitutional Provisions
U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Appellant Hai En Mai.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS

Mr. Mai respectfully seeks review of the Court of Appeals' Opinion, *Mai v. Phillips Law Firm, PLLC*, No. 84922-1 <a href="http://www.court.wa.gov/opinion/pdf/849221.pdf">http://www.court.wa.gov/opinion/pdf/849221.pdf</a> (unpublished) 2023. A copy of the Slip Opinion is attached as Appendix A. A copy of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration is attached as Appendix B.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is a cause of action "property" under the Consumer Protection Act?
- 2. Is the final ruling that dismisses a lawsuit and in fact concludes the matter a "final judgment" notwithstanding it is titled an "order?"

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Overview

Hai En Mai was involved in a motor vehicle accident.

The other driver was cited for failure to yield. Mr. Mai retained

the Phillips Law Firm ("PLF") to prosecute his claim. After a remarkable series of legal errors, he recovered nothing and the trial court awarded \$1,248 in sanctions against him. CP 2-4.

Mr. Mai and his wife thereafter retained current counsel. We filed a legal malpractice action on behalf of him and his wife and asserted a Consumer Protection Act claim on behalf of Mr. Mai. CP 1-6. PLF admitted liability for malpractice but not the CPA violation. CP 23. PLF moved to dismiss the CPA claim, relying on Ambach v. French, 167 Wn.2d 167, 179, 216 P.3d 405 (2009), on the ground the damages sought in the legal malpractice action were personal injury damages. We responded that our claim was for legal malpractice, and we were not seeking personal injury damages at all, citing Williams v. Lifestyle Lifts Holdings, Inc., 175 Wn. App. 62, 302 P.3d 523 (2013) and Peoples v. United Servs. Auto Ass'n, 194 Wn.2d 771, 452 P.3d 1218 (2019). The trial court granted PLF's motion. CP 610.

Mr. Mai appealed the CPA ruling. Division I rejected PLF's argument:

Citing *Ambach v. French*, 167 Wn.2d 167, 179 n.6, 216 P.3d 405 (2009), PLF argues that the Mais' CPA claim is a 'backdoor' attempt to recover their personal injury damages through the more punitive CPA. We disagree.

. . .

The Mais' claim is different. The Mais do not allege that PLF caused them personal injury. Instead, they sued PLF for professional negligence in the mismanagement of their personal injury claim and for violating the CPA by engaging in deceptive advertising. So there is no danger the Mais may use their CPA claim as backdoor access to compensation for Hai En Mai's personal injury.

Slip op. at 5-6 (emphasis supplied). This is exactly the argument Mr. Mai presented to the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals affirmed nonetheless. The Court held that Mr. Mai could not establish injury to property under the CPA for two reasons:

 his cause of action for personal injury was not "property;" and • the trial court's order awarding the defendant in the underlying action \$1,248 in costs was not a "final judgment."

Slip op. at 7-8. With respect, neither of these holdings is correct. Nor was authority for (or against) either proposition addressed in 115 pages of briefing in the Court of Appeals.

Mr. Mai moved to reconsider, which motion was denied. Until that motion, no party had addressed the issues which are the subject of this petition.

## B. Factual Background

We include the limited factual background below for the sake of completeness. We do not believe, however, that familiarity with the facts is necessary to resolve the issues which are the subject of this petition. The factual background is fully described in the parties' Division One briefing should the court believe it necessary to refer to it.

#### 1. The Accident and Retention of PLF

On October 4, 2017, Hai En Mai was driving north on Highway 99 in Edmonds returning home from work on Queen

Anne Hill as a mailman for the U.S. Postal Service. CP 3 at ¶ 3.2. A second car, driven by Hope Campbell, was headed south on Highway 99. *Id.* Ms. Campbell failed to yield to oncoming traffic when making a left-hand turn, cutting directly in front of Hai En Mai. *Id.* She was cited by the Edmonds Police for failing to yield the right-of-way. *Id.* Hai En Mai was not cited for any violation.

Motivated by PLF's advertising and website presence, Mr. Mai signed a Representation Agreement with PLF on May 7, 2018. CP 3 at ¶ 3.4. Mr. Mai agreed to pay [PLF] a contingent fee (33.33 percent), increasing to 40 percent if a lawsuit was filed. *Id*.

# 2. PLF's Handling of Hai En Mai's Claims

On September 17, 2020—28 months after the firm was retained and 17 days before the three-year statute of limitations would have barred his claims—PLF filed suit on behalf of Mr. Mai in Snohomish County Superior Court. CP 3.

In the course of representing Mr. Mai, PLF: (a) did not assert a spousal consortium claim; (b) served no discovery requests but for a single request for production; (c) did not respond to defendant's requests for admission; (d) failed to file Hai En Mai's trial de novo request in a timely fashion; and (e) failed to have that request signed by their client as required by the rules. CP 3-4. One of the requests for admission sought to have Mr. Mai admit that he was 100 percent responsible for the accident and the other driver was blameless. At the commencement of arbitration, that request was deemed admitted. The arbitration concluded before any testimony was taken. The trial de novo request was rejected as improper and \$1,248 in costs/sanctions were awarded to Hope Campbell. *Id*. PLF's failure to communicate with its client throughout the process was a textbook example of what not to do. Id. Mr. Mai first spoke with a lawyer at PLF 1,195 days after he retained the firm. Id.

In his ruling dismissing Mr. Mai's CPA claim on a Rule 12 motion, Judge Rogers summarized PLF's handling of the case:

[M]any actual and hypothetical facts suggesting that the amount of malpractice was <u>astounding</u>. CP 615.

CP 615 (emphasis supplied).

### 3. Plaintiffs' CPA Claim

On August 10, 2022, the Mais filed this lawsuit against PLF for negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, and violation of the CPA. *Id.* at ¶¶ 4.1-4.4. Mr. Mai's CPA claim was premised on allegations that PLF had run a "bait and switch" operation in which it lured Hai En Mai, and presumably other clients, by falsely representing that its attorneys perform actual legal work on personal injury claims. *Id.* at ¶¶ 3.1-4.1. We contend PLF is a high-volume settlement machine, staffed by non-lawyers who draft complaints, prepare settlement demands, negotiate with insurers, and conduct discovery, in return for one-third or 40 percent of a result

essentially anyone could achieve. PLF sells lawyer services but delivers non-lawyers.

The "Our Attorneys" page of the PLF website contains a photograph of the law firm with 43 people in it. CP 68-69, and 250. Although PLF has refused in discovery to identify the individuals in this photograph, counsel for the Mais believe that, at most, only five of the individuals pictured are actually lawyers. This is a lawyer-to-staff ratio of 5 to 38 (approximately one lawyer for every to 7.5 non-lawyers). CP 1-4. We also allege significant misrepresentations and omissions on the PLF website. CP 2-4.

# V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Mr. Mai prevailed in Division I on the issue briefed—
that King County Superior Court Judge Rogers erred in
concluding that Petitioners' damages were not cognizable under
the Consumer Protection Act. But the Court nonetheless
affirmed the Superior Court's ruling on two grounds that were
not at issue and therefore not briefed: (1) whether a cause of

action is "property", and (2) whether the Superior Court's final ruling in the underlying personal injury case was a "final judgment" for purposes of appeal. Both issues require reversal of the decision below.

The Court should accept review of the first issue because it is in conflict with decisions of this Court, as well as the U.S. Supreme Court. See RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). A cause of action is plainly "property." The Court should also accept review because this issue is likely to arise in the future and relates to an issue of substantial importance. Turning on the television—or the internet—is enough to demonstrate that litigation-related lawyer advertising is ubiquitous and the prospect of CPA violations in the entrepreneurial aspects of law has increased. The Court should resolve the question whether CPA liability is a potential remedy where a party's lawsuit (property) is damaged or destroyed as a result of the entrepreneurial actions of a lawyer.

The Court should accept review of the second issue because it directly conflicts with decisions of this Court, specifically a recent one. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1).

## A. A Cause of Action Is "Property."

## 1. The Opinion Below

There are five elements to a CPA claim, one of which is "injury to business or property." *Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 778, 784-85, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). The Court of Appeals rejected the fact that Mr. Mai's cause of action was "property." Instead, the Court's opinion asserts that Mr. Mai's claim related to property he "expect[ed] to acquire." *Mai v. Phillips Law Firm, PLLC*, No. 84922-1, slip op. at p. 8 (Wash. Ct. App. December 18, 2023) (unpublished)

http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/849221.pdf. This is not the case.

### 2. The Law

## a. Washington Law

Mr. Mai's cause of action against Hope Campbell was <a href="itself">itself</a> property. Washington law provides:

"[C]auses of action are personal property."

Carlile v. Harbour Homes, Inc., 147 Wn. App. 193, 208, 194

P.3d 280 (2008) (citing Ennis v. Ring, 49 Wn.2d 284, 289,

300 P.2d 773 (1956) and Mueller v. Rupp, 52 Wn. App. 445,

450-51, 761 P.2d 62 (1988)). Carlile involved claims against a developer by subsequent homeowners who received assigned claims from the original purchasers. The Court held:

A right of action arising from a contract is a chose in action and personal property.

*Id.* (footnote omitted; emphasis supplied). While *Carlile* involved a claim based on a contract right, there is no reason to suggest a tort right should be viewed differently.

The *Ambach* opinion itself, on which PLF relied below, provides:

'[P]roperty' is defined as the right to possess, use, and enjoy a determinate thing . . . the right of ownership.

167 Wn.2d at 172, quoting J. Salmond, *Jurisprudence* 423-24 (Glenville L. Williams ed., 10th ed. (1947)). A cause of action can be bought, sold, pledged as security, or foreclosed upon. By way of example, every covenant judgment case in this state involves the transfer of a cause of action for bad faith. *See*, *e.g.*, *Bird v. Best Plumbing Group, LLC*, 175 Wn.2d 756, 287 P.3d 551 (2012).

For that matter, RCW 19.86.010, the first section of the CPA, defines "assets" to include "any property, tangible or intangible." (emphasis supplied). And RCW 19.86.920, the last section, provides the Act "shall be liberally construed that its beneficial purposes may be served." We have found no argument anywhere for a narrow CPA-specific definition of property limiting it to "tangible property" or excluding causes of action. No statute, case law or text suggests the CPA's use of "property" is so limited.

# b. Federal Law: The Fourteenth Amendment

The first question, we believe, was affirmatively settled by the *Mullane* case itself, where the Court held that a cause of action is a species of property protected by the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause.

Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. 422, 428 (1982) (citing Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 311 (1950)) (emphasis supplied).

The word "property" appears four times in the U.S.

Constitution, but almost all of the litigation involves the

Fourteenth Amendment. *See generally* T.W. Bell, "*Property*"

in the Constitution: The View From the Third Amendment, 20

Wm. & Mary Bill Rts. J. 1243 (2012),

<a href="https://scholarship.law.wm.edu/wmborj/vol20/iss4/7">https://scholarship.law.wm.edu/wmborj/vol20/iss4/7</a>. The

Fourteenth Amendment provides in part:

No State shall . . . deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law . . . .

U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. In *Mullane*, the U.S. Supreme Court addressed the question whether or not a trust company

could immunize itself from liability for mismanagement by posting an oblique notice in the back of a local newspaper. 339 U.S. 306. The Court of Appeals of New York affirmed the process. The U.S. Supreme Court, Justice Jackson writing for the majority, reversed:

Thus, the only notice . . . given, was by newspaper publication setting forth merely the name and address of the trust company, the name and the date of establishment of the common trust fund and a list of all participating estates, trusts or funds.

. . .

Quite different from the question of estate's power to discharge trustees is that of the opportunity it must give beneficiaries to contest. Many controversies have raged about the cryptic and abstract words of the Due Process Clause, that there can be no doubt that, at a minimum, they require that a deprivation of life, liberty or property by adjudication be proceeded by notice and opportunity for hearing appropriate to the nature of the case.

In two ways, this proceeding does or may deprive beneficiaries of property. It may cut off their rights to have the trustee answer for negligent or illegal impairments of their interests. Also, their interests are presumably subject to diminution in the proceeding by allowance of fees and expenses

to one who, in their names but without their knowledge, may conduct a fruitless or uncompensatory contest. Certainly the proceeding is one in which they may be deprived of property rights and hence notice and hearing must measure up to the standards of due process.

Id. at 310, 313 (emphasis supplied). The claims at issue inMullane were tort claims. They were clearly "property."

A generation later, the Court made the same point in Logan. Logan involved an Illinois employee who had alleged unlawful termination of his employment. Through inadvertence, the Illinois Fair Employment Practices

Commission failed to schedule a fact-finding hearing within the statutorily mandated time. The employee sued, alleging his due process rights had been violated. The Illinois Supreme Court rejected his argument. The Supreme Court reversed:

The first question, we believe, was affirmatively settled by the *Mullane* case itself, where the Court held that a cause of action is a species of property protected by the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause. . . .

. . .

In any event, the view that Logan's FEPA claim is a constitutionally protected one follows logically from the Court's more recent cases analyzing the nature of a property interest. The hallmark of property, the Court has emphasized, is an individual entitlement grounded in state law, which cannot be removed except 'for cause.' . . .

Once that characteristic is found, the types of interest protected as 'property' are varied and, as often as not, intangible, relating 'to the whole domain of social and economic fact.' . . . . See, e.g., Barry v. Barchi, 443 U.S. 55 (1979) (horse trainer's license protected); Memphis Light, Gas & Water Dis. v. Craft [436 U.S. 1 (1978)] (utility service); Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976) (disability benefits); Goss v. Lopez [419 U.S. 565 (1975)] (high school education); Connell v. Higginbotham, 403 U.S. 207 (1971) (government employment); Bell v. Burson, 402 U.S. 535 (1971) (driver's license); Goldberg v. Kelly, 297 U.S. 254 (1970) (welfare benefits).

. . .

Certainly it would require a remarkable reading of a 'broad and majestic ter[m],' *Board of Regents v. Roth*, 408 U.S. at 408 U.S. 571 [sic], to conclude that the horse trainer's license is a protected property interest under the Fourteenth Amendment, while a state-created right to redress discrimination is not.

*Id.* at 428, 430-31 (emphasis supplied). A horse trainer's license, utility service, disability benefits, high school

education, government employment, driver's license, welfare benefits, all are property.

## c. Federal Law: Bankruptcy

The debtor's estate in bankruptcy includes "all legal or equitable interests of the debtor in property as of the commencement of the case." 11 U.S.C. § 541(a)(1).

This includes <u>all claims and causes of action or</u> <u>potential causes of action</u> belonging to the debtor, including contract rights which may be contingent upon future events.

In re Alan Deatley Litig., CV-06-0278-JLQ, 2008 WL 4153675, at 18 (E.D. Wash. Aug. 29, 2008) (citations omitted; emphasis supplied). The Bankruptcy Court's forms, in fact, require causes of action to be listed as assets in bankruptcy filings. See Official Form 106 A/B, Part 5, ¶¶ 30 and 33, <a href="http://www.courts.gov/sites/default/files/form106ab.pdf">http://www.courts.gov/sites/default/files/form106ab.pdf</a>. See Appendix C.

## d. The Restatement of Property

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