FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/22/2024 12:19 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1028342 Court of Appeals No. 84922-1-I

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HAI EN MAI and JULIANNE STUTZMAN-MAI,

Plaintiffs / Appellants,

VS.

PHILLIPS LAW FIRM, PLLC, RALPH GLENN PHILLIPS and KATHRYN MOORE PHILLIPS,

Defendants / Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Lori W. Hurl, WSBA #40647 Kristin E. Bateman, WSBA #54681 Forsberg & Umlauf, P.S. 901 Fifth Ave., Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98164 Phone: (206) 689-8500 lhurl@foum.law kbateman@foum.law Attorneys for Respondents

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review

RAP 13.4(b) provides a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only if:

(1) The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;

- (2) The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals;
- (3) A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Mais proceed under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). Because the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with decisions of this Court and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest, this Court should deny the Petition.

B. This Court Does Not Review Issues Raised for First Time on Appeal

As an initial matter, this Court should deny the Mais' Petition because neither of the issues raised in the Petition were before the trial court. Generally, appellate courts do not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. *Kut Suen Lui v. Essex Ins. Co.*, 185 Wn.2d 703, 719, 375 P.3d 596 (2016); RAP 2.5(a)).

Here, both issues raised in the Mais' Petition were raised for the first time in the Mais' Motion for Reconsideration of the

Court of Appeals December 18, 2023 opinion. At no point prior to their Motion for Reconsideration did the Mais raise or brief these issues. Accordingly, this Court should decline to grant review of either of these issues.

C. The Court of Appeals Properly Affirmed the Trial Court on Grounds Established by the Pleadings and Supported by the Record

The Mais contend that the Court of Appeals erred by "affirm[ing] the Superior Court's ruling on two grounds that were not at issue and therefore not briefed: (1) whether a cause of action is "property", and (2) whether the Superior Court's final ruling in the underlying personal injury case was a 'final judgment' for purposes of appeal." Petition at 8-9. This contention is incorrect and is not a reason for this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision for two reasons.

First, the Court of Appeals did not affirm the trial court's ruling for either of the reasons the Mais cite. The Court of Appeals actually held that (1) the Mais cited no legal authority supporting their contention that the inability to use property they

expected to acquire (personal injury damages) is an injury under the CPA; (2) the trial court's award of \$1,248 to the prevailing party for attorney fees against the Mais, which PLF paid on their behalf, was not a "judgment" against Hai En Mai, and the Mais suffered no economic injury; (3) PLF's alleged deceptive acts did not cause Hai En Mai to miss work to attend arbitration because his personal injury claim was subject to mandatory arbitration under the King County local rules; (4) the Mais were not entitled to treble damages and attorney fees under the CPA because they had failed to show injury to their "business or property"; and (5) the Mais were not entitled to an injunction preventing PLF from deceptive advertising because the CPA does not authorize injunctive relief for claimants who fail to show injury to their business or property. Mai, No. 84922-1-I at 7-9. The Mais' Petition mischaracterizes the basis for the Court of Appeals opinion in order to manufacture reasons for this Court to accept review. This Court should decline to do so.

Second, the appellate court "may affirm the trial court on

any grounds established by the pleadings and supported by the record." *Truck Ins. Exch. v. VanPort Homes*, 147 Wn.2d 751, 766, 58 P.3d 276 (2002). The Court of Appeals' holdings above were based upon the facts of the case as applied to the Mais' CPA claim. The Mais do not allege that the Court of Appeals relied on facts not in the record or mistook the facts in the record to dismiss their CPA claim. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's decision on grounds established by the pleadings and supported by the record, and this Court should decline to grant review of either of these issues.

D. The Mais' Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should be Determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The Mais argue that this Court should accept review of this matter because lawyer advertising has increased "the prospect of CPA violations in the entrepreneurial aspects of

law" and that this Court must resolve the question of "whether CPA liability is a potential remedy where a party's lawsuit (property) is damaged or destroyed as a result of the entrepreneurial actions of a lawyer." Petition at 9. This is an incorrect reading of the issues in this case.

PLF does not dispute that plaintiffs may bring CPA claims against their lawyers related to the entrepreneurial aspects of the practice of law, including lawyer advertising. The true issue in this case is whether the Mais alleged the right kind of damages to sustain a CPA claim – injury to their business or property. *Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 788, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). They have not.

As discussed in detail below, injury to property under the CPA occurs when one's "right to possess, use, or enjoy a *determinate* thing has been affected in the slightest degree." *Handlin v. On-Site Manager Inc.*, 187 Wn. App. 841, 849, 351 P.3d 226 (2015) (*citing Ambach v. French*, 167 Wn.2d 167, 172, 216 P.3d 405 (2009)) (emphasis added). Here, Mr. Mai's

personal injury cause of action had no *determinate* value as required by the CPA beyond any damages award that he may have eventually recovered. The Mais' cite no authority establishing that the impact of legal malpractice on an unresolved personal injury action constitutes an injury to business or property under the CPA. *See* Petition at 10-18.

Contrary to the Mais' claims, the issue of whether the Mais have demonstrated an injury to their business or property sufficient to sustain a CPA claim is specific to the facts of the Mais' case and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. Accordingly, this Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

E. The Mais have Failed to Show that an Indeterminate, Unquantifiable Impact on Their Personal Injury Cause of Action is an Injury to Business or Property under the CPA

The Mais's Petition goes to great lengths attempting to establish that their personal injury cause of action against Ms. Campbell was itself "property" for purposes of the CPA. Petition at 10-19. They appear to allege that if the cause of action itself

was indeed property, then they have established the injury to business or property prong of a CPA claim. *See Id.* But the Mais are incorrect because they have still not established a measurable *injury* to their property as required by the CPA.

To prove their cause of action under the CPA, the Mais must establish each of the following elements: (1) that the defendant engaged in an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) that the act occurred in trade or commerce; (3) that the act impacts the public interest; (4) that the plaintiff suffered injury to his or her business or property; and (5) that the injury was causally related to the unfair or deceptive act. *Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 788, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). A failure to meet any one of these elements is fatal to their claim. *Id.* at 793.

Injury to property under the CPA occurs when one's "right to possess, use, or enjoy a *determinate* thing has been affected in the slightest degree." *Handlin v. On-Site Manager Inc.*, 187 Wn. App. 841, 849, 351 P.3d 226 (2015) (*citing Ambach v. French*,

167 Wn.2d 167, 172, 216 P.3d 405 (2009)) (emphasis added).

The loss of property, however, "presupposes an interest in the property that a plaintiff claims to have been unable to enjoy." *Hartman v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 156 Wn. App. 1006, 3 (2010) (unpublished). In *Hartman*, the plaintiff, Hartman, applied for and obtained a "Guaranteed Renewable Disability Income Policy" from Nationwide. *Id.* at 1. Under the policy, if Hartman became disabled, he would receive a maximum monthly payment of \$5,000 for up to five years. *Id.*

Four years later, Hartman requested the cancellation of his policy. *Id.* In response, Assurity (who had assumed responsibility for administering Hartman's policy from Nationwide), sent Hartman a "conservation letter" which misstated his maximum monthly benefit as being \$10,000. *Id.* After receiving the letter, Hartman changed his mind and decided

¹Under GR 14.1(a), unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals filed on or after March 1, 2013, may be cited as nonbinding authorities.

not to cancel his policy. *Id.* He paid the outstanding premium balance, and the policy remained in force. *Id.*

Two months later, Hartman became disabled. *Id.* at 2. He filed a claim with Assurity for benefits under his policy. *Id.* Instead of paying him \$10,000 per month, however, Assurity only paid him \$5,000. *Id.* Hartman filed a lawsuit against Assurity which alleged that it had violated the CPA by misrepresenting his disability benefits in the conservation letter. *Id.* He requested the unpaid / underpaid disability benefits, treble damages, and attorney fees. *Id.*

Assurity filed a motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of Hartman's CPA claim, which the trial court granted. *Id.* The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision, explaining that Assurity's alleged "underpayment" of Hartman's benefits did not constitute an injury to his "business or property" because he never had a property interest in the additional \$5,000 per month. *Id.* The Court explained that the only loss of "property" suffered by Hartman was for the premium payments

that he made after deciding to retain his policy (which he did not claim as an injury). *Id.* at 4. Because he only had a property interest in \$5,000 per month, his claim of unpaid / underpaid benefits "amount[ed] to a claim to monies that he had no right to receive." *Id.*

The Mais, like the plaintiff in *Hartman*, have no property interest in Mr. Mai's personal injury award. Mr. Mai's personal injury cause of action has no determinate value as required by the CPA beyond any damages award that he may have eventually recovered. Although PLF admits that, but for its negligence, it is *likely* that Mr. Mai would have recovered from Ms. Campbell at the conclusion of his lawsuit against her, there was never any guarantee of recovery, let alone recovery of a determinate amount. Even if PLF had answered Ms. Campbell's requests for admission, the arbitrator's award to Mr. Mai was discretionary. While it is undisputed that Ms. Campbell was at fault, the arbitrator could have determined that Mr. Mai did not suffer any compensable injuries. Accordingly, Mr. Mai's unresolved personal injury cause of action had no determinate value and the dismissal of the action does not amount to an injury to the Mais' "business or property" that is compensable under the CPA.

Nowhere in the Mais' extensive discussion of state and federal law² do they cite any authority establishing that the impact of legal malpractice on an unresolved cause of action for personal injury constitutes an injury to business or property under the Washington State CPA. *See* Petition at 10-18. Neither do they cite any authority establishing that an indeterminate, unquantifiable injury to a cause of action can be the basis of a

the Mais make their Petition for Review.

²The Mais' Petition contains a large section devoted to the argument that the Court of Appeal's decision is in conflict with federal law establishing that a cause of action is property. *See* Petition at 13-17. However, the Mais do not allege that this Court should grant review because "a significant question of law under the Constitution of . . . the United States is involved." RAP 13.4(b)(3). Nor do the Mais cite any federal case law establishing that the impact of legal malpractice on an unresolved personal injury action constitutes an injury to business or property under the Washington State CPA. Moreover, whether the Court of Appeal's decision is in conflict with federal case law is not relevant to this Court's decision whether to grant review for purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(1) or RAP 13.4(b)(4), under which

CPA claim. *See Id.* They alleged that when Mr. Mai first met with PLF, he possessed property, the personal injury cause of action, "that had value," which PLF destroyed. Petition 18-19. However, this argument does nothing to place a determinate value on Mr. Mai's unresolved cause of action, as is required by the CPA for purposes of showing injury to property.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the Mais cited no legal authority supporting their contention that the inability to use property they *expected* to acquire is an injury under the CPA. This Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) where no decision of this Court is contrary to the Court of Appeals' holding that the Mais had failed to show injury to their business or property under the CPA.³

_

³As an additional matter, the Mais devote a significant portion of their Petition characterizing PLF as a bad actor because of the way PLF advertises their services. *See* Petition at 7-8. But the content of PLF's advertising is beside the point here, because Hai En Mai admitted that he was not motivated to retain PLF by their advertising because he never saw it prior to retaining PLF. CP 576-77. As a result, the Mais cannot establish that any injury

F. The Trial Court's Award of \$1,248 to Ms. Campbell for Attorney Fees, which PLF Paid, was not a Money Judgment Entered Against the Mais and Does Not Constitute an Injury to Their Business or Property

The Mais allege that the trial court's January 27, 2021 order was a "final judgment" within the meaning of RAP 2.2, CR 54, and *Denney v. City of Richland*, 195 Wn.2d 649, 462 P.3d 842 (2020). Petition at 19-23. The Mais appear to contend that because the order was a final judgment, the award of \$1,248 in attorney's fees was somehow converted into a money judgment against them, establishing an injury to their business or property under the CPA. *See Id.* This is incorrect. Because the award of \$1,248 was an attorney fee award to the prevailing party and not a money judgment against the Mais, it was not an injury to their business or property under the CPA and this Court should decline to grant review on this issue.

they suffered was causally related to any alleged unfair or deceptive act, which is fatal to their CPA claim. *Hangman Ridge*, 105 Wn.2d at 780, 793. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the Mais' CPA claim and this Court should decline to grant review.

Washington law makes a distinction between an award of attorney fees and a money judgment. "The general rule in Washington is that attorney fees will not be awarded for costs of litigation unless authorized by contract, statute, or recognized ground of equity." Durland v. San Juan County, 182 Wn.2d 55, 76, 340 P.3d 191 (2014). By contrast, monetary judgments are judgments for a legal remedy. See Auburn Mechanical, Inc. v. Lydig Const., Inc., 89 Wn. App. 893, 901-02, 951 P.2d 311 (1998) (distinguishing between monetary damages, which are legal in nature, and coercive orders such as injunctions or decrees of specific performance, which are equitable in nature), review denied, 163 Wn.2d 1009 (1998). An attorney fee award is not a money judgment. See Bowles v. Wash. Dep't of Ret. Sys., 121 Wn.2d 52, 76, 847 P.2d 440 (1993) (distinguishing an award of attorney fees from a judgment under RCW 4.56.110(3)).

Here, Ms. Campbell requested attorney fees in the amount of \$1,248 under SCCAR 7.3. CP 132. SCCAR 7.3 provides that "[t]he court *shall* assess costs and reasonable attorney fees

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